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2021R01188/FL/SCF

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA : Criminal No. 21-900 (SDW)
v. : 18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(1)
: 18 U.S.C. § 924(c)(1)(A)(i)

GILBERT BERMUDEZ, : 18 U.S.C. § 371

a/k/a “Troub,” : 18 U.S.C.§2
BRIAN ELIJAH MITCHELL : 21 U.S.C. §§ 841(a)(1) and (b)(1)(B)

a/k/a “Slash,” : 21 U.S.C. 8§ 841(a)(1) and (b)(1)(C)
JAAHAN MITCHELL, : 21 U.S.C.§ 846
KEITH ROGERS, : 21 U.S.C. § 856(a)(1)

a/k/a “Dog,” :

a/k/a“Z”

TORELL BROWN,

MARK WASHINGTON,
ISAIAH BULLOCK,
JENNIFER RIVERA, and
SHAMIKA RICHARDSON

SUPERSEDING INDICTMENT

The Grand Jury in and for the District of New Jersey, sitting at Newark,

charges:

COUNT ONE
(Possession of a Firearm and Ammunition by a Convicted Felon)

On or about May 14, 2021, in Essex County, in the District of New Jersey,

the defendants,

GILBERT BERMUDEZ,
a/k/a “Troub,”
BRIAN ELIJAH MITCHELL,
a/k/a “Slash,” and
JAAHAN MITCHELL,

each knowing that he had previously been convicted of a crime punishable by

imprisonment for a term exceeding one year, did knowingly possess and did aid
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and abet each other in possessing in and affecting commerce a firearm and
ammunition, namely, a 9mm Canik Model TP9 Elite SC handgun, bearing serial
number 19CB04428; sixteen rounds of 9mm ammunition; and five rounds of
.40 caliber ammunition.

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 922(g)(1) and Section
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COUNT TWO
(Possession of a Firearm and Ammunition by a Convicted Felon)

On or about May 20, 2021, in Essex County, in the District of New Jersey,

the defendant,

GILBERT BERMUDEZ,
a/k/a “Troub,”

knowing that he had previously been convicted of a crime punishable by
imprisonment for a term exceeding one year, did knowingly possess in and
affecting commerce a firearm and ammunition, namely, a 9mm Canik Model TP9
Elite SC handgun, bearing serial number 19CB04428, which was loaded with
seven rounds of 9mm ammunition.

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 922(g)(1}.
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COUNT THREE
(Conspiracy to Unlawfully Sell Firearms)

From at least in or around April 2021 through on or about May 18, 2021,
in Essex County, in the District of New Jersey, and elsewhere, the defendants,

TORELL BROWN and
MARK WASHINGTON,

did knowingly and intentionally conspire and agree with each other and others
to commit an offense against the United States, namely, not being a licensed
importer, licensed manufacturer, licensed dealer, or licensed collector of
firearms, to willfully transfer, sell, trade, give, transport, and deliver firearms to
any person, knowing, or having reasonable cause to believe, such person did not
reside in South Carolina, the state of residence of defendant BROWN, contrary
to Title 18, United States Code, Section 922(a)(5) and Section 2.

GOAL OF THE CONSPIRACY

The goal of the conspiracy was to profit from selling firearms in New Jersey
that BROWN and others had transported from South Carolina and to prevent

law enforcement from recovering those firearms.

OVERT ACTS

In furtherance of the conspiracy and to effect its unlawful object, the
following overt acts, among others, were committed in the District of New Jersey
and elsewhere:

1. In or around May 2021, BROWN negotiated the sales of firearms and

ammunition with individuals in New Jersey.
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2. From on or about May 17, 2021 through on or about May 18, 2021,
Brown and at least one other person transported firearms and ammunition from
at least one other state into New Jersey to sell those firearms and ammunition,

3. On or about May 18, 2021, Washington attempted to thwart law
enforcement’s seizure of certain firearms by carrying them away from a residence
in Irvington, New Jersey at which they were stored.

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 371.
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COUNT FOUR
(Possession of Firearms and Ammunition by a Convicted Felon)

On or about May 18, 2021, in Essex County, in the District of New Jersey,

and elsewhere, the defendants,

TORELL BROWN and
MARK WASHINGTON,

each knowing that he had previously been convicted of a crime punishable by
imprisonment for a term exceeding one year, knowingly possessed in and
affecting commerce firearms and ammunition, namely, a Taurus Millennium PT
PRO .40 caliber pistol, bearing serial number SBU30592; a 9mm Zigana Px-9
pistol, bearing serial number TO62021BM00363; a Taurus Millennium PT 140
PRO .40 caliber handgun, bearing serial number SAV23640; a Radical Firearms
Model RF15 multicaliber rifle, bearing serial number 20-070043; a SCCY Model
CPX-2 9mm pistol, bearing serial number C054331; a 9mm FN Model 503
handgun, bearing serial number CV004938; 25 rounds of 5.56 caliber
ammunition, stamped “LC 197; nine rounds of .223 caliber ammunition,
stamped “PMC 223 REM?; two rounds of .40 caliber ball ammunition, stamped
“WINCHESTER 40 S&W?”; five rounds of 9mm hollow-point ammunition,
stamped “HORNADY 9mm LUGER”; one round of 9mm ball ammunition,
stamped “R-P 9mm LUGER”; one round of 9mm ball ammunition, stamped “X-
TREME 9mm LUGER”; eight rounds of 9mm ball ammunition, stamped “SIG
9mm LUGER?; five rounds of 9mm ball ammunition, stamped “BLAZER 9mm
LUGER?”; 50 rounds of .38 caliber ball ammunition, stamped “PMC 38 SPL”; and

40 rounds of Smith & Wesson .40 caliber ammunition.
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COUNT FIVE
(Conspiracy to Traffic Firearms)

From at least in or around March 2021 through on or about May 18, 2021,
in Essex County, in the District of New Jersey, and elsewhere, the defendants,
TORELL BROWN,
BRIAN MITCHELL,
a/k/a “Slash,” and
KEITH ROGERS,

a/k/a “Dog,”
a/k/a uZ,”

did knowingly and intentionally conspire and agree with each other and others
to commit an offense against the United States, namely, with intent to commit
therewith an offense punishable by imprisonment for a term exceeding one year,
or with knowledge or reasonable cause to believe that an offense punishable by
imprisonment for a term exceeding one year 1s to be committed therewith, to
ship, transport, or receive firearms and ammunition in interstate or foreign
commerce, contrary to Title 18, United States Code, Section 924(b).

GOALS OF THE CONSPIRACY

The goal of the conspiracy was to unlawfully transport firearms and
ammunition into New Jersey from at least one other state and use those firearms
and ammunition in connection with at least one other felony offense.

OVERT ACTS

In furtherance of the conspiracy and to effect its unlawful object, the
following overt acts, among others, were committed in the District of New Jersey

and elsewhere:
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1. From at least in or around March 2021 through on or about May 18,
2021, BROWN used at least one cellular phone to negotiate the sales of firearms
and ammunition.

2. In or around May 2021, BROWN negotiated the sales of firearms and
ammunition with ROGERS.

3. During an electronic communication on or about May 11, 2021
between BROWN and ROGERS, BROWN offered to sell Rogers a .40 caliber
handgun with a box of “food,” a slang term for ammunition.

4. During an electronic communication on or about May 14, 2021
between BROWN and ROGERS, BROWN sent ROGERS a photograph of a firearm
and indicated, “it holds 18.” ROGERS responded that he “need|ed] ... that.”

S. On or about May 14, 2021, MITCHELL, together with JAHAAN
MITCHELL and GILBERT BERMUDEZ, discharged firearms in the vicinity of the
Pennington Court housing complex in Newark, New Jersey, in response to an
individual who shot at them.

6. On or about May 15, 2021, MITCHELL and ROGERS discussed on
a call recent violence between certain members of the Grape Street Crips gang,
and rivals of the gang.

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 371.
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COUNT SIX
(Conspiracy to Distribute and Possess with Intent to Distribute Controlled
Substances)

Since at least in or around October 2020 through on or about July 23,
2021, in the District of New Jersey and elsewhere, the defendants,
KEITH ROGERS,
a/k/a “Dog,”
a/ k/a “Z,aa
ISAIAH BULLOCK,
JENNIFER RIVERA, and
SHAMIKA RICHARDSON,
did knowingly and intentionally conspire with each other and others to distribute
and possess with the intent to distribute 100 grams or more of a mixture and
substance containing a detectable amount of heroin, a Schedule 1 controlled
substance, 40 grams or more of a mixture and substance containing a detectable
amount of fentanyl, a Schedule II controlled substance, and a quantity of a
mixture and substance containing a detectable amount of cocaine base, a
Schedule 1I controlled substance, contrary to Title 21, United States Code,

Sections 84 1{a)(1), {(b){(1)(B), and (b){1)(C).

In violation of Title 21, United States Code, Section 846.

10
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COUNT SEVEN
(Possession of Firearms and Ammunition by a Convicted Felon)

On or about July 24, 2021, in Essex County, in the District of New Jersey,

the defendant,
KEITH ROGERS,
a/k/a “Dog,”
a/kfa “Z,”

knowing that he had previously been convicted of a crime punishable by
imprisonment for a term exceeding one year, did knowingly possess in and
affecting commerce firearms and ammunition, namely, a Glock.40 caliber pistol,
bearing serial number KTV211, loaded with 15 rounds of .40 caliber
ammunition, a Glock 21C .45 caliber pistol, bearing serial number DEP510US,

and a .45 caliber magazine, loaded with nine rounds of ammunition.

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 922(g)(1).

11
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COUNT EIGHT
(Maintaining a Drug-Involved Premises)

From at least in or around April 2021 through on or about July 24, 2021,
in Essex County, in the District of New Jersey, the defendants,
KEITH ROGERS,
a/k/a “Dog,”

a/k/fa “Z,” and
SHAMIKA RICHARDSON,

did manage or control a place, whether permanently or temporarily, either as an
owrer, lessee, agent, employee, occupant, or mortgagee, and did knowingly and
intentionally rent, lease, profit from, or make available for use, with or without
compensation, the place for the purpose of unlawfully manufacturing, storing,
distributing, or using a controlled substance.

In violation of Title 21, United States Code, Section 856(a){1) and Title 18,

United States Code, Section 2.

12
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COUNT NINE
{Possession with Intent to Distribute Cocaine Base)

On or about July 24, 2021, in Essex County, in the District of New Jersey,
the defendants,
KEITH ROGERS,
a/k/a “Dog,”

a/k/a “Z,” and
SHAMIKA RICHARDSON,

did knowingly and intentionally possess with intent to distribute a mixture and
substance contaming a detectable amount of cocaine base, a Schedule Il
controlled substance.

In violation of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 84 1(a)(1) and (b)(1)(C)

and Title 18, United States Code, Section 2.

13
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COUNT TEN
(Possession of a Firearm in Furtherance of a Drug Trafficking Crime)

On or about July 24, 2021, in Essex County, the District of New Jersey,
the defendant,
KEITH ROGERS,
a/k/a “Dog,”
a/k/a “Z,”
in furtherance of a drug trafficking crime for which the defendant may be
prosecuted in a court of the United States, namely, possession with intent to
distribute cocaine base, as charged in Count Nine of this Superseding
Indictment, did knowingly possess a firearm.

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 924(c){(1)(A)(1) and

Section 2.

14
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COUNT ELEVEN
(Possession of a Firearm and Ammunition by a Convicted Felon)

On or about July 24, 2021, in Essex County, in the District of New Jersey,

the defendant,
KEITH ROGERS,
a/k/a “Dog,”
a/k/a “Z,n
knowing that he had previously been convicted of a crime punishable by
imprisonment for a term exceeding one year, did knowingly possess in and
affecting cornmerce a firearm, namely, a Smith & Wesson Model 386 .357 caliber
firearm, bearing serial number CRW4711, loaded with seven rounds of

ammunition.

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 922(g)(1).
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COUNT TWELVE
(Maintaining a Drug-Involved Premises)

From at least in or around April 2021 through on or about July 24, 2021,
in Essex County, in the District of New Jersey, the defendants,
KEITH ROGERS,
a/k/a “Dog,”
a/k/a uZ,”

JENNIFER RIVERA, and
ISAJIAH BULLOCK,

did knowingly and intentionally open, lease, rent, use, and maintain a residential
apartment for the purpose of manufacturing, distributing, and using controlled
substances, including fentanyl, a Schedule Il controlled substance, and cocaine
base, a Schedule II controlled substance.

In violation of Title 21, United States Code, Section 856(a)(1) and Title 18,

United States Code, Section 2.

16
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COUNT THIRTEEN
(Possession with Intent to Distribute Fentanyl and Cocaine Base)

On or about July 24, 2021, in Essex County, in the District of New Jersey,
the defendants,
KEITH ROGERS,
a/k/a “Dog,”
a/k/a “Z,”

JENNIFER RIVERA, and
ISAIAH BULLOCK,

did knowingly and intentionally possess with intent to distribute 40 grams or
more of a mixture and substance containing a detectable amount of fentanyl, a
Schedule II controlled substance, and a mixture and substance containing a
detectable amount of cocaine base, a Schedule II controlled substance.

In viclation of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 84 1(a){1), (b}{1)(B),

and (b)(1)(C) and Title 18, United States Code, Section 2.

17
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COUNT FOURTEEN
(Possession of a Firearm and Ammunition by a Convicted Felon)

On or about July 24, 2021, in Essex County, in the District of New Jersey,
the defendants,
KEITH ROGERS,
a/k/a “Dog,”
a/ k/a “2,”

JENNIFER RIVERA, and
ISAIAH BULLOCK,

each knowing that he or she had previously been convicted of a crime punishable
by imprisonment for a term exceeding one year, did knowingly possess in and
affecting commerce a firearm and ammunition, namely, a .45 caliber Smith &
Wesson handgun, bearing serial number DVU 1239, loaded with 13 rounds of
ammunition, and 45 rounds of .45 caliber ammunition.

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 922(g)(1) and Section

18
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COUNT FIFTEEN
(Possession of a Firearm in Furtherance of a Drug Trafficking Crime)

On or about July 24, 2021, in Essex County, in the District of New Jersey,
the defendants,
KEITH ROGERS,
a/k/a “Dog,”

a/k/a “Z,” and
ISAJAH BULLOCK,

in furtherance of a drug trafficking crime for which the defendants may be
prosecuted in a court of the United States, namely, possession with intent to
distribute fentanyl and cocaine base, as charged in Count Thirteen of this
Superseding Indictment, did knowingly possess a firearm.

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 924(c)(1){A)(i) and

Section 2.

19
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COUNT SIXTEEN
(Possession with Intent to Distribute Cocaine Base)

On or about August 2, 2021, in Essex County, in the District of New
Jersey, the defendant,

ISAIAH BULLOCK,

did knowingly and intentionally possess with intent to distribute a mixture and
substance containing a detectable amount of cocaine base, a Schedule II
controlled substance.

In violation of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 84 1(a)(1) and (b)(1)(C).

20
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COUNT SEVENTEEN
(Possession with Intent to Distribute Cocaine Base)

On or about August 2, 2021, in Essex County, in the District of New

Jersey, the defendant,

ISAIAH BULLOCK,

did knowingly and intentionally possess with intent to distribute a mixture and
substance containing a detectable amount of cocaine base, a Schedule II
controlled substance.

In violation of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 841(a)(1) and (b)(1){C).

21
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FORFEITURE ALLEGATION ONE

1. The allegations set forth in Counts One and Two of this Superseding
Indictment are hereby realleged and incorporated by reference for the purpose of
alleging forfeiture pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 924(d){1) and 28 U.S.C. § 2461(c}.

2. Upon conviction of the offenses alleged in Counts One and Two of
this Superseding Indictment, the defendants,

GILBERT BERMUDEZ,
a/k/a “Troub,”
BRIAN ELIJAH MITCHELL,

a/k/a “Slash,” and
JAAHAN MITCHELL,

shall forfeit to the United States, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 924(d)(1) and 28 U.S.C.
§ 2461(c), any firearms and ammunition involved in or used in the commission
of such offenses, including but not limited to:
(1) one 9mm Canik, Model TP9 Elite SC handgun, bearing serial number
19CB04428;
(2) nine rounds of 9mm ammunition;
(3) 16 rounds of 9mm ammunition; and

(4) five rounds of .40 caliber ammunition.

22



Case 2:21-cr-00900-SDW Document 38 Filed 02/25/22 Page 23 of 30 PagelD: 278

FORFEITURE ALLEGATION TWO

1. The allegations set forth in Counts Three and Four of this
Superseding Indictment are hereby realleged and incorporated by reference for
the purpose of alleging forfeiture pursuant to 18 U.5.C. § 924(d)(1) and 28 U.S.C.
§ 2461(c).

2. Upon conviction of the offenses alleged in Counts Three and Four of
this Superseding Indictment, the defendants,

TORELL BROWN and
MARK WASHINGTON,

shall forfeit to the United States, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 924(d)(1) and 28 U.S.C.
§ 2461(c), any firearms and ammunition involved in or used in the commission
of such offenses, including but not limited to:
(1) One Taurus Millennium PT Pro .40 caliber pistol, bearing serial number
SBU30592;
(2) One 9mm Zigana Px-9 pistol, bearing serial number T062021BM00363;
(3) One Taurus Millennium PT 140 Pro .40 caliber handgun, bearing serial
number SAV23640;
{4) One Radical Firearms LLC Model RF15 multicaliber rifle, bearing serial
number 20-070043;
(5) One SCCY Model CPX-2 9mm pistol, bearing serial number C054331;
(6) One 9mm FN Model 503 handgun, bearing serial number CV004938;
(7) a Taurus Millennium PT PRO .40 caliber pistol, bearing serial number
SBU30592;
(8) a 9mm Zigana Px-9 pistol, bearing serial number TO62021BM00363;

23
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(9) a Taurus Millennium PT 140 PRO .40 caliber handgun, bearing serial
numbher SAV23640;
(10) a Radical Firearms Model RF15 multicaliber rifle, bearing serial

number 20-070043;

(11) a SCCY Model CPX-2 9mm pistol, bearing serial number C054331;

(12) a 9mm FN Model 503 handgun, bearing serial number CV004938,;

(13) 25 rounds of 5.56 caliber ammunition, stamped “LC 197;

(14) nine rounds of .223 caliber ammunition, stamped “PMC 223 REM7;

(15) two rounds of .40 caliber ball ammunition, stamped “WINCHESTER
40 S&W7;

(16) five rounds of 9mm hollow-point ammunition, stamped “HORNADY
9mm LUGER”;

(17) one round of 9mm ball ammunition, stamped “R-P 9mm LUGER?”;

(18) one round of 9mm ball ammunition, stamped “X-TREME 9mm
LUGER”;

(19) eight rounds of 9mm ball ammunttion, stamped “SIG 9mm LUGER?”;

(20) five rounds of 9mm ball ammunition, stamped “BLAZER 9mm
LUGER”;

(21) 45 rounds of .38 caliber ball ammunition, stamped “PMC 38 SPL”;
and

(22) 40 rounds of Smith & Wesson .40 caliber ammunition.

24
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FORFEITURE ALLEGATION THREE

1. The allegations set forth in Count Seven of this Superseding
Indictment are hereby realleged and incorporated by reference for the purpose of
alleging forfeiture pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 924(d)(1) and 28 U.S.C. § 2461{c).

2. Upon conviction of the offense alleged in Count Seven of this
Superseding Indictment, the defendant,

KEITH ROGERS,

a/k/a “Dog,”
a/k/a “z’”

shall forfeit to the United States, pursuant to 18 U.5.C. § 924(d)(1) and 28 U.S.C.
§ 2461(c), any firearms and ammunition involved in or used in the commission
of such offense, including but not limited to:

(1) a Glock.40 caliber pistol, bearing serial number KTV211;

(2) 15 rounds of .40 caliber ammunition;

(3) a Glock 21C .45 caliber pistol, bearing serial number DEPS10US;

(4) a .45 caliber magazine; and

(5) Nine rounds of .45 caliber ammunition.

25
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FORFEITURE ALLEGATION FOUR

1. The allegations set forth in Counts Ten and Eleven of this
Superseding Indictment are hereby realleged and incorporated by reference for
the purpose of alleging forfeiture pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 924(d)(1) and 28 U.S.C.
§ 2461(c).

2. Upon conviction of the offenses alleged in Counts Ten and Eleven of
this Superseding Indictment, the defendants,

SHAMIKA RICHARDSON and
KEITH ROGERS,

a/k/a “Dog,”
a/k/a “Z,”

shall forfeit to the United States, pursuant to 18 U.5.C. § 924(d)(1) and 28 U.S.C.
§ 2461(c), any firearms and ammunition involved in or used in the commission
of such offenses, including but not limited to a Smith & Wesson Model 386 .357
caliber firearm, bearing serial number CRW4711; and seven rounds of

ammunition.

26
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FORFEITURE ALLEGATION FIVE

1. The allegations set forth in Counts Fourteen and Fifteen of this
Superseding Indictment are hereby realleged and incorporated by reference for
the purpose of alleging forfeiture pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 924(d)(1) and 28 U.S.C.
§ 2461(c).

2, Upon conviction of the offenses alleged in Counts Fourteen and
Fifteen of this Superseding Indictment, the defendants,

KEITH ROGERS,
a/k/a “Dog,”
a/k/a “Z,”

JENNIFER RIVERA, and
ISAIAH BULLOCK,

shall forfeit to the United States, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 924(d)(1) and 28 U.S.C.
§ 2461(c), any firearms and ammunition involved in or used in the commission
of such offenses, including but not limited to a .45 caliber Smith & Wesson
handgun, bearing serial number DVU 1259; 13 rounds of ammunition, and 50

rounds of .45 caliber ammunition.

27
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FORFEITURE ALLEGATION SIX

1. The allegations set forth in Counts Six, Eight, Nine, Twelve,
Thirteen, Sixteen, and Seventeen of this Superseding Indictment are hereby
realleged and incorporated by reference for the purpose of alleging forfeiture
pursuant to 21 U.5.C. § 853.

2. Pursuant to 21 U.S.C. § 853, upon conviction of the controlled
substance offenses alleged in Counts Six, Eight, Nine, Twelve, Thirteen, Sixteen,
and Seventeen of this Superseding Indictment, the defendants,

KEITH ROGERS,
a/k/a “Dog,”
a/k/a “z’”
SHAMIKA RICHARDSON,

JENNIFER RIVERA, and
ISAIAH BULLOCK,

shall forfeit to the United States of America any and all property constituting or
derived from any proceeds the defendants obtained directly or indirectly as a
result of these offenses, and any and all property used or intended to be used in

any manner or part to commit and facilitate the commission of these offenses.

28
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SUBSTITUTE ASSETS PROVISION
(APPLICABLE TO ALL FORFEITURE COUNTS)

If any of the above described forfeitable property, as a result of any act or
omission of the defendants:

(a) cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence;

(b) has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third person;

(c) has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the Court;

(d) has been substantially diminished in value; or

(e) has been commingled with other property which cannot be

subdivided without difficulty,

it is the intent of the United States, pursuant to 21 U.S.C. § 833(p), to seek

forfeiture of any other property of the defendants up to the value of the above

described forfeitable property.

Ry O Sl

PHILIP K. SELLINGER
United States Attorney

29
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CASE NUMBER: _ 21-900 {SDW}
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a/k/a “Dog,”
a/kfa “Z,”
TORELL BROWN,
MARK WASHINGTON,
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PHILIP R. SELLINGER
UNITED STATES ATTORNEY
FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY
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